COPPER STORAGE DISEASES: MENKES, WILSON'S, AND CANCER

Kenyon G. Daniel¹, R. Hope Harbach², Wayne C. Guida² and Q. Ping Dou¹

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. The chemical nature of copper
 - 3.1. Oxidation states of copper
 - 3.1.1. Copper (I)
 - 3.1.2. Copper (II)
 - 3.1.3. Copper (III)
 - 3.1.4. Copper (IV)
- 4. The biological role of copper
 - 4.1. Copper absorption
 - 4.2. Ceruloplasmin
 - 4.3. Cytochrome c oxidase
 - 4.4. Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase
 - 4.5. metallothioneins
 - 4.6. Lysyl oxidase
 - 4.7. Copper uptake
 - 4.8. Other copper associated proteins and enzymes
- 5. Menkes disease
- 6. Wilson's disease
- 7. Cancer, copper and anticopper drugs
 - 7.1. Penicillamine
 - 7.2. Trientine
 - $7.3.\ Tetrathiomolyb date$
- 8. The proteasome and organic copper
 - 8.1. Current proteasome inhibitors
 - 8.2. Copper-based proteasome inhibition
- 9. Future directions
- 10. Acknowledgements
- 11. References

1. ABSTRACT

The trace element copper is vital to the healthy functioning of organisms. Copper is used in a multitude of cellular activities including respiration, angiogenesis, and immune responses. Like other metals, copper homeostasis is a tightly regulated process. Copper is transported from dietary intake through the serum and into cells via a variety of transporters. There are a variety of copper chaperones designed to insure that copper is sequestered from interaction with cellular membranes, proteins, or DNA where its properties can result in oxidative damage. However, there are disease states in which copper transporters crucial to homeostasis are impaired resulting in potentially toxic accumulation. Wilson's and Menkes diseases are two disease Wilson's (hepatolenticular cases. degeneration) is an autosomal recessive disorder resulting in extreme accumulation of copper in the liver with

deposits elsewhere in the body. Menkes is characterized by a systemic copper deficiency (different from the liver specificity of Wilson's disease) and is the result of an Xlinked recessive mutation in a copper transporter. Uptake of copper is impaired due to inability to remove existing copper from cells primarily in the small intestine. Though the causes are dramatically different, cancer also shares a similar diagnostic in the accumulation of copper in effected tissues. Studies have shown greatly elevated levels of copper in cancer tissues, and some diagnostics and treatments from Wilson's and Menkes diseases, such as copper chelation therapy, have been used in the treatment of cancer. Given the commonality of copper accumulation in these diseases and that common therapies exist between them, it may prove beneficial to study all three diseases in light of copper homeostasis. This review will examine the chemical nature and biological roles of copper, Wilson's

¹ The Prevention Program, Barbara Ann Karmanos Cancer Institute, and Department of Pathology, School of Medicine, Wayne State University, Detroit, Michigan, USA, ² Department of Chemistry, Eckerd College, St. Petersburg, Florida, USA and Drug Discovery Program, H. Lee Moffitt Cancer Center & Research Institute and Department of Interdisciplinary Oncology, College of Medicine, University of South Florida, Tampa, Florida, USA

and Menkes disease and their therapies, and the use of copper related therapies in cancer.

2. INTRODUCTION

Copper is a trace element essential to all organisms. Copper is ubiquitous in the diet and systemic copper concentrations are highly regulated. Typically, the amount of copper consumed is equal to the amount excreted each day. Chemical reactions involving copper are typically oxidative-reductive in nature. Biologically, copper fulfills a variety of roles including detoxification of reactive oxygen species, mitochondrial respiration, and connective tissue development. When copper regulation fails a variety of disease states can develop. Two examined here are failure of copper elimination, Wilson's Disease, and extreme systemic copper deficiency, Menkes Disease. A hallmark of cancer is the accumulation of copper in effected tissues. By examining the diagnosis and therapy of Wilson's and Menkes diseases, new insight may be gained into mechanisms of angiogenesis in cancer and new approaches may be developed to treat cancer. The accumulation of copper by cancer cells might prove to be a distinguishing characteristic that can be targeted by future chemotherapeutic agents.

3. THE CHEMICAL NATURE OF COPPER

Numerous excellent textbooks and monographs exist that describe the chemistry of copper (1-6). Here we provide a brief synopsis of the chemical nature of copper. The 29th element in the periodic table is copper (Cu). The most abundant form of copper on earth is the mineral chalcopyrite (CuFeS₂), which accounts for approximately 80% of the world's copper deposits. Copper can be isolated from ore by oxidative roasting and smelting, or by microbial-assisted acid leaching, followed electrodeposition from sulfate containing ore solutions. Although there are numerous isotopes of copper, the two most common ones are the stable, non-radioactive isotopes ⁶³Cu and ⁶⁵Cu with abundances of 69.17% and 30.83%, respectively.

Elemental copper is a reddish metallic solid that is malleable, ductile, and a good conductor of heat and electricity. Copper is an important element of industrial alloys such as brass and bronze and is completely miscible with gold. Lustrous Cu is slowly oxidized in moist air, often giving rise to a green coating of hydroxy carbonate and/or hydroxy sulfate caused by the absorption of CO₂ or SO₂ from air.

Copper catalyzes numerous reactions, particularly in aqueous solution. These reactions often involve oxidation-reduction (redox) systems and typically employ the reductive capacity of the Cu(I)-Cu(II) redox pair frequently using molecular oxygen as the oxidant. Reactions involving the Cu (I)-Cu (II) redox pair are especially important in biochemical reactions in living organisms.

Elemental Cu has a ground state electronic configuration of $[Ar]3d^{10}4s^1$. The d shell is not very

effective at shielding the lone outer s electron from the positively charged nucleus. As a result, the first ionization energy for copper is higher for copper than for alkali metals, such as potassium. This property is also responsible for its radius, which is smaller than alkali metals (0.93 Å vs. $r_{\rm Na}^+=0.95$ Å and $r_{\rm k}^+=1.33$ Å) (2, 3). The second and third ionization energies are low with respect to alkali metals, contributing to its transition metal character. The electrons of the d shell are also involved in metallic bonding resulting in a high heat of sublimination and high a melting point.

3.1. Oxidation states of copper

Copper can be oxidized to form Cu(I), Cu(II), Cu (III), and Cu (IV). Copper (I) is the favored oxidation state in the gas phase. In crystals and in solution, Cu(II) is generally favored.

3.1.1. Copper (I)

The electronic configuration of Cu(I) is [Ar]3*d*¹⁰. Complexes of Cu(I) are diamagnetic and are generally colorless, unless the accompanying anion is paramagnetic or colored. Cu(I) stability is particularly dependent on the solvent in which the Cu(I) ions are dissolved. Aqueous solvents have very low equilibrium concentrations of Cu(I) (<10⁻² M), because Cu(I) often becomes rapidly oxidized to Cu(II). Generally, Cu(I) complexes can be formed with halides or amines and have a tetrahedral geometry like Zn(II), which is isoelectronic with Cu(I). It is noteworthy that other geometries for Cu(I) complexes have been observed including linear and trigonal planar geometries. Since Cu(I) is a "soft" (*i.e.*, polarizable) ion, it typically prefers ligands that have polarizable electrons like sulfur ligands or aromatic ligands like 2, 2'-bipyridine.

3.1.2. Copper (II)

The electronic configuration of Cu(II) is $[Ar]3d^9$. Complexes of Cu(II) are generally paramagnetic and give rise to a signal in their EPR spectrum. Cu(II) can adopt coordination numbers of four, five, or most commonly, six, though regular octahedral structures are not commonly observed. The geometry of the octahedral complexes distort so that four short Cu-L bonds and two long bonds form to Cu(II). Halide containing complexes of Cu(II) are readily available and are generally very soluble in aqueous or alcoholic solvents.

Multi-dentate ligands complexed to Cu(II) by O or N (e.g. amino acids) are quite stable. Whether ligands form monodentate, bidentate, or tridentate complexes with Cu(II) is frequently dependent on the pH of the solution. The strengths of the coordinate covalent bond for complexes with amine ligands are as follows: NH $_3 > \text{RNH}_2 > \text{R}_2\text{NH} > \text{R}_3\text{N}$. Imidazole containing compounds often react with copper(II) to produce complexes with the formula, Cu(L) $_4\text{X}_2$, where L is the ligand and X is a halide. The imidazole ligands coordinate to copper in a coplanar fashion, whereas the halides make up the other vertices of a distorted octahedron. Coordination to Cu(II) (and Cu(I)) of the imidazole from histidine is, of course, important in copper ligation in proteins. Numerous other heterocyclic compounds can coordinate to Cu(II). For example, Cu(II)

Figure 1. Depiction of the structure of bis-aquo (bis-8-hydroxyquinolinato-N, O) Cu(II) based upon crystallographic data (6).

can form an octahedral complex with 8-hydroxyquinoline in aqueous solution (6) (Figure 1). Copper hydrides have been thought to play a part as reactive intermediates in hydrogenation reactions involving Cu(II), but this has not been confirmed.

3.1.3. Copper (III)

Copper(III) complexes are prepared by the oxidation of Cu(I) or Cu(II) by using various oxidizing agents such as chlorine or fluorine gases, aqueous hypochlorite (CIO'), or unusual oxyanions. The electronic configuration of Cu(III) is $[Ar]3d^8$, so the d electrons may be arranged to give two unpaired electrons (high spin, paramagnetic) or all paired electrons (low spin, diamagnetic). However, the diamagnetic case is more common. The formation of Cu(III) complexes typically involves oxygen, nitrogen, and sulfur ligands. The crystal structure of a tripeptide complex, α -aminoisobutyryl- α

3.1.4. Copper (IV)

Copper (IV) complexes are very rare and have only been prepared with F⁻ and O²⁻, which are anions of the two most electronegative elements. The best-characterized Cu(IV) complex, [CuF₆]²⁻ is probably paramagnetic and is thought to be octahedral.

For further details on copper chemistry please see references (1-6).

4. THE BIOLOGICAL ROLE OF COPPER

Copper (Cu) is found in all living organisms and is a crucial trace element in redox chemistry, growth, and development (7, 8). A variety of copper-containing metalloenzymes are found in both plants and animals in which copper ions are typically bound to nitrogen or sulfur containing ligands. These metalloenzymes are important in electron transfer, oxygen transport and oxygenation reactions, and can contain Cu(I), Cu(II), or Cu(III) species. Daily intake of copper ranges from 0.6 to 1.6 mg / day with

the main sources of copper being seeds, grains, nuts, beans, shellfish, and liver (7, 9). Copper toxicity comes about from its abilities to produce reactive oxygen species, displace other metal ions, peroxidize lipids, and directly cleave DNA and RNA (10, 11). Copper homeostasis is very tightly regulated with excretion being the main factor in maintaining copper levels (7, 8).

4.1. Copper absorption

Copper absorption takes place primarily in the small intestine and excretion occurs primarily through the bile (about 1 mg / day for the adult) (7, 8, 12). Excess copper in cells is bound to glutathione and subsequently metallothionein (13). Metallothioneins are used for metal storage rather than uptake, with copper having a much higher degree of affinity for these proteins and the capability to displace other ions from metallothioneins (13, 14). There are three proteins primarily responsible for delivery of copper throughout the organism. Ceruloplasmin is the principal carrier molecule of copper in the serum carrying 65-70% total available copper to the tissues (8, 15). Next albumin and transcuprein carry 12-18 and 9% respectively (8).

Once absorbed across the brush-border, copper is transported to the trans-Golgi-network via the metallochaperone (ATOX-1) in mice or human atox-1 homolog (HAH1) in humans, and both proteins deliver copper to the P-type ATPases located there (16, 17). For enterocytes, the P-type ATPase is ATP7A (MNK), the protein involved with Menkes disease, and in the liver, the P-type ATPase is ATP7B, the Wilson's disease protein (12, 18). For Cu/Zn super oxide dismutase, the carrier is copper chaperone CCS, and for the mitochondria, COX17 delivers copper for use by cytochrome c oxidase (19-23).

The below are some examples of copperbinding/using proteins/enzymes (sections 4.2-4.6).

4.2. Ceruloplasmin

Ceruloplasmin, the primary copper carrier in serum, is also a potent ferroxidase capable of oxidizing Fe(II) to Fe(III) (24). Oxidation of iron is important in its binding to transferrin (24). During copper deficiency iron remains in the liver and upon addition of copper containing ceruloplasmin, iron is immediately released from the liver into the blood (25, 26).

4.3. Cytochrome c oxidase

COX17 delivers copper to the mitochondria for use by cytochrome c oxidase (12). This protein has a variety of metal binding sites including two copper specific sites (27). This cytochrome is responsible for conversion of O_2 to water and the pumping of protons into the intramitochondrial membrane space producing the proton gradient used in ATP synthesis (8).

4.4. Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase

Cu/Zn-SOD (SOD1) is a member of the SOD enzyme family with three known enzymes Cu/Zn-SOD, Mn-SOD, and EV-SOD, which convert superoxide anions

to peroxide (28). SOD1 is a homodimer that is almost exclusively located in intracellular cytoplasmic spaces (28). Typically, this enzyme is constitutively expressed. If there is a shortage of available copper this enzyme is one of the first to lose its activity even in hyperoxia situations (8). A report by Marikovsky, *et al.*, suggests that SOD-1 plays an important role in inflammation (29).

4.5. Metallothioneins

The primary purpose of this group of proteins is to sequester metal ions when they are present in excess (30). Metallothioneins can bind Cu, Zn, Cd, Hg, Ag, or Ni (30). However, Cu has the highest apparent affinity and can displace other metal ions (30). It has been reported that metallothioneins with bound copper possess some SOD activity (31).

4.6. Lysyl oxidase

Protein-6-lysine oxidase plays an important role in development of connective tissue as it is required for cross-linking collagen and elastin (8, 32). In Menkes disease, connective tissue development is altered due to failure of protein-6-lysine oxidase although copper may play a structural role rather than a catalytic role in this enzyme (33, 34). Due to reduced functionality of lysyl oxidase, patients show hyperelastic skin, hernias, and aortic aneurysms among other connective tissue related abnormalities (32, 35).

4.7. Copper uptake

The principal copper uptake enzymes are members of the copper transporter (Ctr) family. These high affinity transporters are composed of 3 transmembrane domains and are believed to form trimers that create channels through which copper migrates (36). The transporters conduct uptake with a Km of 1-5 μ M and demonstrate a preference for Cu(I) (36). Since there is some correlation between K^+ uptake and Cu(I) uptake, it has been suggested that these two ions are taken up together, though whether this is true and whether this occurs through the same enzyme remains unknown at this time.

4.8. Other copper associated proteins and enzymes

Copper can be found in a variety of crucial enzymes where it plays a role ranging from structural support to a redox active center. Other enzymes include, but are not limited to: tyrosinase, dopamine-βmonooxygenase, α-amidating enzyme, diamine oxidase, angiogenin, some matrix metalloproteinases such as secreted protein acidic and rich in cysteine (SPARC). and blood clotting factors V and VIII (8, 37). Disruption of copper homeostasis can have effects on all of these enzymes and their activities as well as the development of toxic levels of the metal and reactive oxygen species. In both Wilson's and Menkes diseases, there is a failure of copper transportation. As a result, copper uptake is impaired and copper becomes deposited in various tissues (esp. liver and eye in Wilson's disease). Likewise, cancer tissues have reportedly high levels of copper. Though neurodegeneration and liver disease are not the result, the excess copper may be involved in angiogenesis, through the activity of matrix metalloproteinases, induction and release of vasoendothelial growth factor (VEGF), and in direct damage through creation of reactive oxygen species, although the role of copper in angiogenesis remains unclear. So while Wilson's and Menkes disease differ significantly from cancer, it is possible that certain therapies and diagnostic tools may be applicable to cancer since the therapies involve monitoring and control of copper.

5. MENKES DISEASE

The *ATP7A* gene (chromosome location Xq12-q13, OMIM 309400) codes for a P-type ATPase that is responsible for excretion of copper from cells and delivery of copper to enzymes in the trans-golgi network (32, 38-43). Menkes disease is an X-linked disease that affects 1 in 200,000 births due to mutations in the *ATP7A* gene leading to an inactive enzyme. This results in accumulation of copper systemically (32, 39, 40). This is a fatal disorder that results in neuronal degeneration and connective tissue abnormalities and is typically lethal by 3-4 years of age (32, 38-41, 43).

Loss of MNK (the gene product of *ATP7A*) forces copper to remain sequestered in the cell (especially cells of the intestinal tract) and creates a systemic copper deficiency since MNK is primarily responsible for delivery of copper to enzymes (such as lysyl oxidase) and efflux of copper when the ion is present in excess (38, 39). While presentation of clinical features of Menkes disease can vary, there are some commonalities. Primarily is the "kinky hair" first described as "steely wool" in sheep leading to the first descriptor of the disease as Kinky Hair Disease (42). The classic disease, presented in the Menkes Family, showed early growth retardation, cerebral and cerebeller degeneration, and death in boys before the age of two (44). Other biochemical markers include low serum copper and ceruloplasmin levels (45).

Menkes disease can be diagnosed by genetic screening to ascertain mutations in the *ATP7A* gene. However, detection is more commonly found *via* cultured cells that accumulate copper and have significantly reduced copper efflux (46, 47). Unfortunately, parenteral therapy with copper salts to correct the copper deficiency has not been successful in dealing with the neurodegeneration that accompanies Menkes disease (39). Prenatal diagnosis of Menkes disease is critical due to the fact that genetic screening of mothers may not always reveal *ATP7A* mutations (48).

One of the key diagnostic features of Menkes disease is the capacity for primary culture cells from patients to accumulate copper (46, 47). Furthermore, early diagnosis and treatment is critical for Menkes disease. Use of labeled copper to monitor copper accumulation in cultured amniocytes (from the fetus) or even skin fibroblasts from patients can diagnose the presence of Menkes disease (48). Therefore, it is possible that inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectroscopy

(ICP-OES) could be used to determine subtler changes in copper concentrations.

The current treatment of Menkes disease is administration of copper-histidine to the patient (39). Copper-histidine represents the main copper-amino acid complex found in serum (39). Four case studies of boys provided with copper-histidine as a therapy all showed stabilized or dramatically improved disease conditions (39). Though one child died before the age of 11 years and another was 20 years old at the time of the report on the efficacy of therapy (39).

Menkes disease is a fatal X-linked genetic defect in the MNK protein (product of the ATP7A gene). Much like cancer, successful therapy requires early detection. Only early diagnosis (prior to or just after birth) can prevent the neurodegeneration and development of the child can proceed normally otherwise those afflicted die before the age of three (48). However, the diagnostic tool of genetic analysis is not 100% reliable. Though in cases where Menkes disease is suspected, analysis of copper accumulation by host cells will provide a clear indication of the presence of the disease. In this case, cellular copper retention proves to be an excellent marker for the presence of the disease.

6. WILSON'S DISEASE

Similar to Menkes disease, the rare autosomal recessive Wilson's disease (chromosomal location 13q14.3-q21.1 OMIM: 277900) is caused by a defect in the *ATP7B* gene that codes for a copper transport gene required for copper excretion via the bile (39, 49). In Wilson's disease, liver copper levels rise and serum ceruloplasmin levels decrease. This decrease is believed to be partially due to the role ATP7B plays in ceruloplasmin formation (39, 49, 50). Wilson's disease is more common than Menkes disease (about 1 in 40,000 people as opposed to 1 in 200,000 for Menkes disease), and if detected before permanent damage takes place, it is readily treatable through copper chelation and zinc loading therapies (39, 49, 51).

The clinical presentation of Wilson's disease can involve hepatic symptoms and neurological symptoms. These symptoms include liver failure (mild or severe), tremors, slurred speech, and other neurological impairments (49). Initially the disease results in accumulation of copper in the liver leading to cirrhosis and hemolysis. Later stages result in copper deposition in the brain and the eyes, in the form of the Kayaer-Fleischer ring. These deposits (esp. Kayaer-Fleischer rings) can serve as a diagnostic marker of Wilson's disease (39, 49, 50).

Traditionally the therapy for Wilson's disease is copper chelation and excretion via the urine (39, 49, 51). The consequences of the disease are due to the toxicity of the copper load in the liver (slightly different from Menkes disease which arises from copper deficiency) and subsequent deposition in non-hepatic tissues (39, 49-51). In 1948 Mandelbrote, *et al.*, determined that copper chelation / elimination would be therapeutic in the treatment of

Wilson's disease and found that the chelating agent British anti-Lewisite served this purpose effectively (18). However, British anti-Lewisite requires intramuscular injection of about 3 mL of peanut oil carrying the drug and furthermore the drug itself is a mercaptan resulting in a foul odor associated with it (51). These factors led to the development of orally administered penicillamine (D-PA), trientine, tetrathiomolybdate (TM), and zinc (39, 49, 51). Aside from zinc therapy, which is not an ideal therapy for patients with acute symptomology, only tetrathiomolybdate has minor and reversible side effects (49). Penicillamine therapy is discouraged due to the possibility of permanent neurological damage the drug can cause (39, 49, 51). Trientine has only limited application and a limited toxicity profile, and is likewise discouraged for use (49). Zinc is an inducer of metallothionein, which is a high affinity copper binding protein. However, compared to TM treatment, zinc induction of metallothionein is a slow treatment and not ideal for patients with acute symptomology. Since TM can be toxic (though mildly and reversibly so), after initial hematologic or neurological symptoms have abated and when copper levels have been appropriately reduced, zinc becomes the preferred treatment for Wilson's disease (39, 49, 51). For details on each chelator, please see section 6 below.

In the treatment of Wilson's disease, management of extremely high amounts of liver copper is of primary importance. Initial treatment for patients presenting Wilson's disease with liver damage or neurological impairments centers on the elimination of excess copper usually through copper chelation. Copper chelators prove extremely potent at reducing these highly elevated copper levels to nontoxic levels where zinc maintenance becomes the ideal therapy.

7. CANCER, COPPER, AND ANTICOPPER DRUGS

In has not been reported that cancer is associated with a failure of a copper transporter or with copper toxicity or deficiency. However, it is interesting to note that mislocalization of the ATP7B (Wilson's) protein has been found in hepatocarcinoma cells (52) and that overexpression of ATP7B is associated with cisplatin resistance (53). It is also known that cancer tissues contain extremely elevated levels of copper (54-57). The reasons for this elevation are unclear but one possible result is increased angiogenesis (58-60). Tumor growth and metastasis depend upon angiogenesis, neovascularization process (61, 62) that requires growth factors, proteases, and the trace element copper (58-60). Copper, but not other transition metals, is a co-factor essential for the tumor angiogenesis processes (58-60). Consistently, high levels of copper have been found in many types of human cancers (54-57). Copper stimulates proliferation and migration of human endothelial cells (63, 64). A specific amount of local copper appears to be required for angiogenesis to occur. It has been shown that three anti-copper drugs used in the treatment of Wilson's Disease, TM, trientine, D-PA, have antiangiogenic effects in murine cancer models (65-67). Based on this

information, several studies and some clinical trials (in the case of TM) have been performed to evaluate the antiangiogenic effects of these anti-copper drugs on solid tumors (58).

7.1. Penicillamine

Prior to the advent of TM, treatment with D-PA was the most commonly used therapeutic agent for Wilson's Disease. This compound is capable of binding to copper in proteins and stabilizing the complex for copper elimination (66). When used in conjunction with a copper restricted diet, D-PA blocked angiogenesis and gliosarcoma in F-344 rats (67). However, this same treatment failed to block lung metastasis or vascularization and tumor growth of VX2 tumors in thigh muscle (67). The failure of the treatment was unknown but possibly due to differences in copper deposition (67). As with many cancers, hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) cells have been shown to have significantly elevated copper loads (66). Yoshii, et al., found that high-dose D-PA (3,000 ppm) administered to rats bearing HCC xenografts blocked tumor development and especially so when in conjunction with a copper deficient diet (66). However, D-PA was not as potent as trientine, and D-PA treatment can result in significant side effects including auto-immune disease (66). For these reasons and others, D-PA has not been further pursued since other copper chelating agents are available.

7.2. Trientine

The development of trientine came about in response to the severe side effects seen in some patients using penicillamine treatment. Trientine is generally more potent than penicillamine at binding copper, and binds free copper, as well as having more potent anticancer effects even without the addition of a copper deficient diet (66). In a previous study, SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells were cultured in the presence of trientine (68). As expected, cellular copper was depleted. An early response included overexpression of p53 and p21 as well as activation of caspase-9 and caspase-3 (68). In this case, copper elimination resulted in apoptosis induction via the mitochondrial pathway (68). In another murine study, 1500 ppm of trientine was provided to Long-Evans cinnamon rats (a murine model for Wilson's disease) (69). Compared to untreated rats, those receiving trientine possessed 33% smaller HCCs and significantly lowered numbers of HCCs (0.6 average in treated animals compared to 4.1 for untreated), suggesting a strong tumor preventative effect by trientine without toxicity (69).

7.3. Tetrathiomolybdate

Of the compounds for Wilson's therapy, the one most frequently used, currently, is TM. This is due to the toxicity profile of penicillamine and to the limited toxicity profile of trientine (see section 5). However, minimal toxicity has been observed with TM treatment and this effect is rapidly reversible. TM has been used in preclinical mouse studies and clinical trials. Earlier studies examined cancer prone Her2/neu transgenic mice and athymic nude mice with breast tumor xenografts which were given TM treatment (65). TM treatment (0.7 mg/day) resulted in a nearly 70% reduction in tumor volume and

only minimal neovascularization in nude mice with xenografts (65). Furthermore, treatment with 0.75 mg/day TM was capable of preventing development of tumors in Her2/neu mice (65). While there was histological evidence of full transformed breast cells in these mice, there was a complete absence of any invasive activity or angiogenesis (65). In another study, male C3H/HeJ mice served as an orthotopic model of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (70). Treated mice received 50 mg of TM per day in drinking water, which was well tolerated (70). Control mice developed tumors 4.7 times greater in volume than TM treated mice, and control mice also had 50% increased development of microvasculature (70). These results further supported the potential role of TM as an anticancer drug that acts through prevention of angiogenesis.

Phase I clinical trials were conducted during 1998 and 1999 to measure the pharmacodynamics of TM in patients with metastatic cancer (71). The trial was conducted with 18 patients receiving 90 - 120 mg/day TM treatment. No toxicity was found when ceruloplasmin (Cp, a marker of systemic copper load) was reduced to 15 - 20% of baseline (71). However, reversible anemia was found when Cp levels dropped below that threshold (71). While this was not an efficacy trial, per se, it should be noted that 5 of 6 patients with TM induced copper deficiency displayed stable disease and reduced angiogenesis within tumor masses (71). These results strongly support the idea that copper binding compounds and their resulting complexes can have very mild and reversible toxicity, a necessary characteristic for chemotherapeutic agents. In 2003, the results from a phase II clinical trial with kidney cancer patients were reported (72). The treatment consisted of 40 mg of TM three times a day with 60 mg prior to sleep (72). While no patients demonstrated complete or partial response, the disease stabilized in four patients during the six-month treatment (72). Overall, TM was well tolerated with mild toxicities (72). It should be noted that this was a small study with patients bearing advanced kidney cancer and this factor may have contributed to the relatively minimal effect of TM on the disease.

Wilson's and Menkes diseases both offer insights into cancer therapy. Menkes disease diagnostics in which cells are assayed for copper accumulation (46, 47) could be adapted for analysis of copper accumulation in potentially cancerous tissues. Therapies for Wilson's disease have already been used in cancer in an antiangiogenic modality that includes both animal studies and, in the case of TM, clinical trials. Thus demonstrating that copper control can serve as a chemotherapeutic strategy for cancer.

8. THE PROTEASOME AND ORGANIC COPPER

The proteasome is a massive multicatalytic protease responsible for degrading a large number of cellular proteins. These target proteins are first tagged with ubiquitin in order to be targeted for degradation by the proteasome. Several regulatory proteins involved in cell cycle and apoptosis processes, such as cyclins, bcl-2 family members, and p53, are degraded by the ubiquitin-

proteasome pathway (73, 74). The eukaryotic proteasome possesses at least three distinct activities: chymotrypsin-like (cleavage after hydrophobic residues), trypsin-like (cleavage after basic residues), and caspase-like (cleavage after acidic residues) (75). In a broad range of cell culture models, proteasome inhibitors rapidly induce tumor cell apoptosis, selectively activating the cell death program in oncogene-transformed, but not normal or untransformed cells, and are able to trigger apoptotic death in human cancer cells that are resistant to various anticancer agents (73, 74, 76-78). Inhibition of the chymotrypsin-like, but not the trypsin-like, activity has been found to be associated with induction of tumor cell apoptosis (79, 80).

8.1. Current Proteasome Inhibitors

The antitumor activity of proteasome inhibitors has been confirmed by the results of Phase I and II trials using MLN-341 (PS-341), a potent and selective dipeptidyl boronic acid proteasome inhibitor that recently gained FDA approval (79, 81, 82). Phase III clinical trials for myeloma were conducted in spring 2003 (83). However, some associated side effects were observed in the PS-341 trials (81, 84), suggesting that there is a need to discover novel proteasome inhibitors with no, or much less, toxicity.

Lactacystin, an antibiotic derived proteasome inhibitor, and MG132 (benzyloxycarbonyl-Leu-Leuleucinal), a peptide proteasome inhibitor, have been found to induce apoptosis in human leukemia cells (85-88). The novel proteasome inhibitor, CEP1612, was found to induce p53-independent apoptosis in human leukemia, prostate, breast, brain, and tongue tumor cells (79). Proteasome inhibition has been shown to be a very effective and potentially non-toxic chemotherapeutic strategy (73, 74, 76-78, 89). Recently we have shown that there is a link between organic copper and inhibition of proteasome activity (89). This leads to the possibility that cancer could be treated with copper binding compounds to prevent angiogenesis, inhibit the proteasome, and induce cancer cell apoptosis thereby enhancing the activity of either traditional copper chelation or proteasome inhibition alone.

8.2. Copper-based Proteasome Inhibition

Our laboratory has determined that certain types of copper compounds can function as potent inhibitors of proteasome activity and are capable of inducing apoptosis within transformed, but not non-transformed, cell lines (89). Since the compounds effective in Wilson's disease (TM, Trientine, and D-PA) are copper binding agents, we examined whether or not these compounds, when complexed with copper, also functioned as proteasome inhibitors. As may be suspected, these compounds possessed no proteasome inhibitory activity (89). However, we were able to find a copper complex from the NCI Diversity Set (NCI-109268) that is a proteasome inhibitor (89). We noticed that NCI-109268 is structurally similar to 8-hydroxyquinoline. A variety of 8-hydroxyquinoline copper complexes were then synthesized and tested for proteasome inhibition. Most were found to be potent, and transient, proteasome inhibitors capable of inducing

apoptosis in human leukemia cells (89). Perhaps even more significantly, when human prostate cancer cells, PC-3, were grown under copper-enriched conditions resulting in elevated copper levels within the cells, treatment with the copper binding compound, 8-hydroxyquinoline, resulted in proteasome inhibition and apoptosis (89). These results suggest that tumor cellular copper can be bound by certain types of organic ligands (such as 8-hydroxyquinoline, but not tetrathiomolybdate), which results in formation of a proteasome inhibitor inside the tumor cell. Cells that lacked elevated copper levels were not sensitive to treatment with the copper binding compound alone (89). This approach provides a distinct means to targeting tumor cells over normal cells and uses formation of a compound that does not effect the normal cell population. However, further studies including animal studies, still need to be performed to provide proof of concept information.

It appears that particular types of compounds could serve a dual role in the treatment of cancer by targeting copper. First, such compounds might eliminate copper making this pro-angiogenic factor unavailable for angiogenesis (the TM modality). Second, by using the proper type of ligand the final complex could become a potent proteasome inhibitor (the proteasome inhibition modality). Our analyses show that complex formation between a copper ligand and copper can occur in cells with elevated copper, and the complex itself was non-toxic to non-transformed cells (89). Normal tissues could be protected by several potential checkpoints. First, the ligand used should be a non-toxic compound. Second, the ligand should bind primarily to cellular copper and copper is abundant in cancer cells and vanishingly scarce in normal cells. Third, even though some complex formation could occur away from cancer sites, normal cells are more resistant to proteasome inhibition. Fourth, the proteasome inhibition by copper complexes appears to be transient, suggesting that the complex is degraded or metabolized. Even so this does not save cancer cells from apoptosis, which may act as a further safeguard against toxicity to normal cells. In the final analysis, all these checks against toxicity should promote the development of novel copper binding compounds. Moreover, these two key approaches to cancer control (proteasome inhibition and antiangiogenesis) should provide the impetus to create nontoxic chemotherapeutic agents by targeting a unique feature of cancer cells: copper content.

9. FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Wilson's and Menkes diseases are currently well-characterized and possess effective non-toxic therapies. Both diseases offer information that may prove useful in the battle against cancer. Menkes disease shows that cellular and tissue accumulation of copper can serve as a marker even in the absence of detected mutations in the causative gene. Likewise, it might be possible for those individuals with a family history of cancer to have tissue samples analyzed for copper accumulation by tracking accumulation of labeled copper in pre-cancerous tissues, similar to analysis of ceruloplasmin levels which has been previously reported. This may serve as a very early

indication of the potential of angiogenesis that helps drive tumor formation and growth. Wilson's disease therapy (which has already been used as an antiangiogenic strategy) demonstrates that copper levels can be managed with very mild and reversible toxicity. Furthermore with the correct compounds (i.e. TM), nephrotoxicity and other serious side effects can be avoided. Our own research takes this information and the studies surrounding the anticancer effects of proteasome inhibitors and applies this to other copper chelation agents. These results show that active copper complex proteasome inhibitors could not only block angiogenesis, but also induce cancer apoptosis. Thus, this may prove to be a very potent, specific strategy for the development of non-toxic chemotherapies for cancer.

10. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work is supported in part by research grants from the National Cancer Institute-National Institutes of Health and Barbara Ann Karmanos Cancer Institute Prevention Program (to Q. P. D.).

11. REFERENCES

- 1. Emsley, J: The Elements 3rd Edition. Oxford, Clarendon Press (1988)
- 2. Cotton, A.F: Basic Inorganic Chemistry 2nd Edition. J Wiley & Sons 506-511 (1987)
- 3. Bailar, J.C. Jr.: Comprehensive Inorganic Chemistry, ed. JC, 3, Elmsford, Pergamon Press (1973)
- 4. King, R: Encyclopedia of Inorganic Chemistry. Vol. 2, University of Georgia, John Wiley & Sons (1994)
- 5. Roat-Malone and M. Rosette: Bioinorganic Chemistry: A Short Course. Hoboken, N.J., John Wiley & Sons, Inc (2002)
- 6. Okabi, N. and H. Saishi: Bisaguabis (8-hydroxyquinolinato-N,O)copperII. Acta Cryst (E57), m251-m252 (2001)
- 7. Linder, M: Biochemistry of Copper. New York, Plenum Press (1991)
- 8. Tapiero, H., D. M. Townsend and K. D. Tew: Trace elements in human physiology and pathology. *Copper Biomed Pharmacother* 57, 9, 386-98 (2003)
- 9. Turnlund, J.R., W. R. Keyes, H. L. Anderson and L. L. Acord: Copper absorption and retention in young men at three levels of dietary copper by use of the stable isotope 65Cu. *Am J Clin Nutr* 49, 5, 870-8 (1989)
- 10. Predki, P.F. and B. Sarkar: Effect of replacement of "zinc finger" zinc on estrogen receptor DNA interactions. *J Biol Chem* 267, 9, 5842-6 (1992)
- 11. Halliwell, B. and J. M. Gutteridge: Oxygen toxicity, oxygen radicals, transition metals and disease. *Biochem J*

- 219, 1, 1-14 (1984)
- 12. Shim, H. and Z. L. Harris: Genetic defects in copper metabolism. *J Nutr* 133, 5 Suppl 1, 1527S-31S (2003)
- 13. Freedman, J.H., M. R. Ciriolo and J. Peisach: The role of glutathione in copper metabolism and toxicity. *J Biol Chem* 264, 10, 5598-605 (1989)
- 14. Suzuki, K.T., A. Karasawa, H. Sunaga, H. Kodama and K. Yamanaka: Uptake of copper from the bloodstream and its relation to induction of metallothionein synthesis in the rat. *Comp Biochem Physiol* C 94, 1, 93-7 (1989)
- 15. Linder, M.C., L. Wooten, P. Cerveza, S. Cotton, R. Shulze and N. Lomeli: Copper transport. *Am J Clin Nutr* 67, 5 Suppl, 965S-971S (1998)
- 16. Klomp, L.W., S. J. Lin, D. S. Yuan, R. D. Klausner, V. C. Culotta and J. D. Gitlin: Identification and functional expression of HAH1, a novel human gene involved in copper homeostasis. *J Biol Chem* 272, 14, 9221-6 (1997)
- 17. Larin, D., C. Mekios, K. Das, B. Ross, A. S. Yang and T. C. Gilliam: Characterization of the interaction between the Wilson and Menkes disease proteins and the cytoplasmic copper chaperone, HAH1p. *J Biol Chem* 274, 40, 28497-504 (1999)
- 18. Robertson, W.M: Wilson's disease. *Arch Neurol* 57, 2, 276-7 (2000)
- 19. Field, L.S., E. Luk and V. C. Culotta: Copper chaperones: personal escorts for metal ions. *J Bioenerg Biomembr* 34, 5, 373-9 (2002)
- 20. Culotta, V.C., L. W. Klomp, J. Strain, R. L. Casareno, B. Krems and J. D. Gitlin: The copper chaperone for superoxide dismutase. *J Biol Chem* 272, 38, 23469-72 (1997)
- 21. Casareno, R.L., D. Waggoner and J. D. Gitlin: The copper chaperone CCS directly interacts with copper/zinc superoxide dismutase. *J Biol Chem* 273, 37, 23625-8 (1998)
- 22. Glerum, D.M., A. Shtanko and A. Tzagoloff: Characterization of COX17, a yeast gene involved in copper metabolism and assembly of cytochrome oxidase. *J Biol Chem* 271, 24, 14504-9 (1996)
- 23. Amaravadi, R., D. M. Glerum and A. Tzagoloff: Isolation of a cDNA encoding the human homolog of COX17, a yeast gene essential for mitochondrial copper recruitment. *Hum Genet* 99, 3, 329-33 (1997)
- 24. Sarkar, J., V. Seshadri, N. A. Tripoulas, M. E. Ketterer and P. L. Fox: Role of ceruloplasmin in macrophage iron efflux during hypoxia. *J Biol Chem* 278, 45, 44018-24 (2003)
- 25. Osaki, S. and D. A. Johnson: Mobilization of liver iron

- by ferroxidase (ceruloplasmin). J Biol Chem 244, 20, 5757-8 (1969)
- 26. Harris, Z.L., A. P. Durley, T. K. Man and J. D. Gitlin: Targeted gene disruption reveals an essential role for ceruloplasmin in cellular iron efflux. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 96, 19, 10812-7 (1999)
- 27. Ferguson-Miller, S. and G. T. Babcock: Heme/Copper Terminal Oxidases. *Chem Rev* 96, 7, 2889-2908 (1996)
- 28. Zelko, I.N., T. J. Mariani and R. J. Folz: Superoxide dismutase multigene family: a comparison of the CuZn-SOD (SOD1), Mn-SOD (SOD2) and EC-SOD (SOD3) gene structures, evolution and expression. *Free Radic Biol Med* 33, 3, 337-49 (2002)
- 29. Marikovsky, M., V. Ziv, N. Nevo, C. Harris-Cerruti and O. Mahler: Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase plays important role in immune response. *J Immunol* 170, 6, 2993-3001 (2003)
- 30. Cousins, R.J. Absorption, transport and hepatic metabolism of copper and zinc: special reference to metallothionein and ceruloplasmin. *Physiol Rev* 65, 2, 238-309 (1985)
- 31. Kang, Y.J: The antioxidant function of metallothionein in the heart. *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med* 222, 3, 263-73 (1999)
- 32. Mercer, J.F: Menkes syndrome and animal models. *Am J Clin Nutr* 67, 5 Suppl, 1022S-1028S (1998)
- 33. Rucker, R.B., T. Kosonen, M. S. Clegg, A. E. Mitchell, B. R. Rucker, Uriu-Hare, J.Y. and C. L. Keen: Copper, lysyl oxidase and extracellular matrix protein cross-linking. *Am J Clin Nutr* 67, 5 Suppl, 996S-1002S (1998)
- 34. Tang, C. and J. P. Klinman: The catalytic function of bovine lysyl oxidase in the absence of copper. *J Biol Chem* 276, 33, 30575-8 (2001)
- 35. Kuivaniemi, H., L. Peltonen, A. Palotie, I. Kaitila and K. I. Kivirikko: Abnormal copper metabolism and deficient lysyl oxidase activity in a heritable connective tissue disorder. *J Clin Invest* 69, 3, 730-3 (1982)
- 36. Petris, M.J: The SLC31 (Ctr) copper transporter family. *Pflugers Arch* (2003)
- 37. Sage, E.H., M. Reed, S. E. Funk, T. Truong, M. Steadele, P. Puolakkainen, D. H. Maurice and J. A. Bassuk: Cleavage of the matricellular protein SPARC by matrix metalloproteinase 3 produces polypeptides that influence angiogenesis. *J Biol Chem* 278, 39, 37849-57 (2003)
- 38. Pase, L., I. Voskoboinik, M. Greenough and J. Camakaris: Copper stimulates trafficking of a distinct pool of the Menkes copper ATPase (ATP7A) to the plasma membrane and diverts it into a rapid recycling pool. *Biochem J* Pt (2003)
- 39. Sarkar, B: Treatment of Wilson and menkes diseases.

- Chem Rev 99, 9, 2535-44 (1999)
- 40. Poulsen, L., N. Horn, H. Heilstrup, C. Lund, Z. Tumer and L. B. Moller: X-linked recessive Menkes disease: identification of partial gene deletions in affected males. *Clin Genet* 62, 6, 449-57 (2002)
- 41. Suzuki, M. and J. D. Gitlin: Intracellular localization of the Menkes and Wilson's disease proteins and their role in intracellular copper transport. *Pediatr Int* 41, 4, 436-42 (1999)
- 42. Menkes, J. H: Kinky hair disease: twenty five years later. *Brain Dev* 10, 2, 77-9 (1988)
- 43. Cobbold, C., J. Coventry, S. Ponnambalam and A. P. Monaco: The Menkes disease ATPase (ATP7A) is internalized via a Rac1-regulated, clathrin- and caveolae-independent pathway. *Hum Mol Genet* 12, 13, 1523-33 (2003)
- 44. Menkes, J.H., M. Alter, G. K. Steigleder, D. R. Weakley and J. H. Sung: A sex-linked recessive disorder with retardation of growth, peculiar hair and focal cerebral and cerebellar degeneration. *Pediatrics* 29, 764-79 (1962)
- 45. Kodama, H., E. Sato, Y. Yanagawa, H. Ozawa and T. Kozuma: Biochemical indicator for evaluation of connective tissue abnormalities in Menkes' disease. *J Pediatr* 142, 6, 726-8 (2003)
- 46. Horn, N: Menkes' X-linked disease: prenatal diagnosis and carrier detection. *J Inherit Metab Dis* 6 Suppl 1, 59-62 (1983)
- 47. Gu, Y.H., H. Kodama, Y. Murata, D. Mochizuki, Y. Yanagawa, H. Ushijima, T. Shiba and C. C. Lee: ATP7A gene mutations in 16 patients with Menkes disease and a patient with occipital horn syndrome. *Am J Med Genet* 99, 3, 217-22 (2001)
- 48. Gu, Y.H., H. Kodama, E. Sato, D. Mochizuki, Y. Yanagawa, M. Takayanagi, K. Sato, A. Ogawa, H. Ushijima and C. C. Lee: Prenatal diagnosis of Menkes disease by genetic analysis and copper measurement. *Brain Dev* 24, 7, 715-8 (2002)
- 49. Brewer, G.J: Recognition, diagnosis and management of Wilson's disease. *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med* 223, 1, 39-46 (2000)
- 50. Ryder, S.D. and I. J. Beckingham: ABC of diseases of liver, pancreas and biliary system. Other causes of parenchymal liver disease. *Bmj* 322, 7281, 290-2 (2001)
- 51. Schilsky, M.L: Treatment of Wilson's disease: what are the relative roles of penicillamine, trientine and zinc supplementation? *Curr Gastroenterol Rep* 3, 1, 54-9 (2001)
- 52. Huster, D., M. Hoppert, S. Lutsenko, J. Zinke, C. Lehmann, J. Mossner, F. Berr and K. Caca: Defective cellular localization of mutant ATP7B in Wilson's disease

- patients and hepatoma cell lines. Gastroenterology 124, 2, 335-45 (2003)
- 53. Miyashita, H., Y. Nitta, S. Mori, A. Kanzaki, K. Nakayama, K. Terada, T. Sugiyama, H. Kawamura, A. Sato, H. Morikawa, K. Motegi and Y. Takebayashi: Expression of copper-transporting P-type adenosine triphosphatase (ATP7B) as a chemoresistance marker in human oral squamous cell carcinoma treated with cisplatin. *Oral Oncol* 39, 2, 157-62 (2003)
- 54. Scanni, A., L. Licciardello, M. Trovato, M. Tomirotti and M. Biraghi: Serum copper and ceruloplasmin levels in patients with neoplasias localized in the stomach, large intestine or lung. *Tumori* 63, 2, 175-80 (1977)
- 55. Zowczak, M., M. Iskra, L. Torlinski and S. Cofta: Analysis of serum copper and zinc concentrations in cancer patients. *Biol Trace Elem Res* 82, 1-3, 1-8 (2001)
- 56. Turecky, L., P. Kalina, E. Uhlikova, S. Namerova and J. Krizko: Serum ceruloplasmin and copper levels in patients with primary brain tumors. *Klin Wochenschr* 62, 4, 187-9 (1984)
- 57. Chan, A., F. Wong and M. Arumanayagam: Serum ultrafiltrable copper, total copper and caeruloplasmin concentrations in gynaecological carcinomas. *Ann Clin Biochem* 30 Pt 6, 545-9 (1993)
- 58. Brem, S: Angiogenesis and Cancer Control: From Concept to Therapeutic Trial. *Cancer Control* 6, 5, 436-458 (1999)
- 59. Brewer, G. J: Copper control as an antiangiogenic anticancer therapy: lessons from treating Wilson's disease. *Exp Biol Med* (Maywood) 226, 7, 665-73 (2001)
- 60. Theophanides, T. and J. Anastassopoulou: Copper and carcinogenesis. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol* 42, 1, 57-64 (2002)
- 61. Eatock, M. M., A. Schatzlein and S. B. Kaye: Tumour vasculature as a target for anticancer therapy. *Cancer Treat Rev* 26, 3, 191-204 (2000)
- 62. Fox, S.B., G. Gasparini and A. L. Harris: Angiogenesis: pathological, prognostic and growth-factor pathways and their link to trial design and anticancer drugs. *Lancet Oncol* 2, 5, 278-89 (2001)
- 63. McAuslan, B.R. and W. Reilly: Endothelial cell phagokinesis in response to specific metal ions. *Exp Cell Res* 130, 1, 147-57 (1980)
- 64. Hu, G.F: Copper stimulates proliferation of human endothelial cells under culture. *J Cell Biochem* 69, 3, 326-35 (1998)
- 65. Pan, Q., C. G. Kleer, K. L. van Golen, J. Irani, K. M. Bottema, C. Bias, M. De Carvalho, E. A. Mesri, D. M. Robins, R. D. Dick, G. J. Brewer and S. D. Merajver:

- Copper deficiency induced by tetrathiomolybdate suppresses tumor growth and angiogenesis. *Cancer Res* 62, 17, 4854-9 (2002)
- 66. Yoshii, J., H. Yoshiji, S. Kuriyama, Y. Ikenaka, R. Noguchi, H. Okuda, H. Tsujinoue, T. Nakatani, H. Kishida, D. Nakae, D. E. Gomez, De Lorenzo, M.S., A. M. Tejera and H. Fukui: The copper-chelating agent, trientine, suppresses tumor development and angiogenesis in the murine hepatocellular carcinoma cells. *Int J Cancer* 94, 6, 768-73 (2001)
- 67. Brem, S.S., D. Zagzag, A. M. Tsanaclis, S. Gately, M. P. Elkouby and S. E. Brien: Inhibition of angiogenesis and tumor growth in the brain. Suppression of endothelial cell turnover by penicillamine and the depletion of copper, an angiogenic cofactor. *Am J Pathol* 137, 5, 1121-42 (1990)
- 68. Lombardo, M.F., M. R. Ciriolo, G. Rotilio and L. Rossi: Prolonged copper depletion induces expression of antioxidants and triggers apoptosis in SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 60, 8, 1733-43 (2003)
- 69. Sone, K., M. Maeda, K. Wakabayashi, N. Takeichi, M. Mori, T. Sugimura and M. Nagao: Inhibition of hereditary hepatitis and liver tumor development in Long-Evans cinnamon rats by the copper-chelating agent trientine dihydrochloride. *Hepatology* 23, 4, 764-70 (1996)
- 70. Cox, C., T. N. Teknos, M. Barrios, G. J. Brewer, R. D. Dick and S. D. Merajver: The role of copper suppression as an antiangiogenic strategy in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Laryngoscope* 111, 4 Pt 1, 696-701 (2001)
- 71. Brewer, G.J., R. D. Dick, D. K. Grover, LeClaire, V., M. Tseng, M. Wicha, K. Pienta, B. G. Redman, T. Jahan, V. K. Sondak, M. Strawderman, LeCarpentier, G. and S. D. Merajver: Treatment of metastatic cancer with tetrathiomolybdate, an anticopper, antiangiogenic agent: Phase I study. *Clin Cancer Res* 6, 1, 1-10 (2000)
- 72. Redman, B.G., P. Esper, Q. Pan, R. L. Dunn, H. K. Hussain, T. Chenevert, G. J. Brewer and S. D. Merajver: Phase II trial of tetrathiomolybdate in patients with advanced kidney cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* 9, 5, 1666-72 (2003)
- 73. Goldberg, A.L: Functions of the proteasome: the lysis at the end of the tunnel. *Science* 268, 5210, 522-3 (1995)
- 74. Dou, Q.P., D. M. Smith, K. G. Daniel and A. Kazi: Interruption of tumor cell cycle progression through proteasome inhibition: implications for cancer therapy. *Prog Cell Cycle Res* 5, 441-6 (2003)
- 75. Lowe, J., D. Stock, B. Jap, P. Zwickl, W. Baumeister and R. Huber: Crystal structure of the 20S proteasome from the archaeon T. acidophilum at 3.4 A resolution. *Science* 268, 5210, 533-9 (1995)
- 76. Adams, J: Potential for proteasome inhibition in the

- treatment of cancer. Drug Discov Today 8, 7, 307-15 (2003)
- 77. Almond, J.B. and G. M. Cohen: The proteasome: a novel target for cancer chemotherapy. *Leukemia* 16, 4, 433-43 (2002)
- 78. Dou, Q.P. and B. Li: Proteasome inhibitors as potential novel anticancer agents. *Drug Resist Updat* 2, 4, 215-223 (1999)
- 79. An, B., R. H. Goldfarb, R. Siman and Q. P. Dou: Novel dipeptidyl proteasome inhibitors overcome Bcl-2 protective function and selectively accumulate the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p27 and induce apoptosis in transformed, but not normal, human fibroblasts. *Cell Death Differ* 5, 12, 1062-75 (1998)
- 80. Lopes, U.G., P. Erhardt, R. Yao and G. M. Cooper: p53-dependent induction of apoptosis by proteasome inhibitors. *J Biol Chem* 272, 20, 12893-6 (1997)
- 81. Adams, J: Preclinical and clinical evaluation of proteasome inhibitor PS-341 for the treatment of cancer. *Curr Opin Chem Biol* 6, 4, 493-500 (2002)
- 82. Twombly, R: First proteasome inhibitor approved for multiple myeloma. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 95, 12, 845 (2003)
- 83. Adams, J: The proteasome: structure, function and role in the cell. *Cancer Treat Rev* 29 Suppl 1, 3-9 (2003)
- 84. Dou, Q.P. and R. H. Goldfarb: Evaluation of the proteasome inhibitor MLN-341 (PS-341). *IDrugs* 5, 828-834 (2002)
- 85. Omura, S., K. Matsuzaki, T. Fujimoto, K. Kosuge, T. Furuya, S. Fujita and A. Nakagawa: Structure of lactacystin, a new microbial metabolite which induces differentiation of neuroblastoma cells. *J Antibiot* (Tokyo) 44, 1, 117-8 (1991)
- 86. Fenteany, G., R. F. Standaert, G. A. Reichard, E. J. Corey and S. L. Schreiber: A beta-lactone related to lactacystin induces neurite outgrowth in a neuroblastoma cell line and inhibits cell cycle progression in an osteosarcoma cell line. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 91, 8, 3358-62 (1994)
- 87. Fujita, E., T. Mukasa, T. Tsukahara, K. Arahata, S. Omura and T. Momoi: Enhancement of CPP32-like activity in the TNF-treated U937 cells by the proteasome inhibitors. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 224, 1, 74-9 (1996)
- 88. Shinohara, K., M. Tomioka, H. Nakano, S. Tone, H. Ito and S. Kawashima: Apoptosis induction resulting from proteasome inhibition. *Biochem J* 317, Pt 2, 385-8 (1996)
- 89. Daniel, K.G., P. Gupta, R. H. Harbach, W. C. Guida and Q. P. Dou: Organic copper complexes as a new class of proteasome inhibitors and apoptosis inducers in human

- cancer cells. Biochemical Pharmacology (In press)
- **Key Words:** Copper, Anti-copper drugs, Proteasome inhibitors, Chemoprevention, Drug discovery, Review
- Send correspondence to: Q. Ping Dou, Ph.D., The Prevention Program, Barbara Ann Karmanos Cancer Institute and Department of Pathology, School of Medicine, Wayne State University, 516 HWCRC, 4100 John R, Detroit, Michigan, 48201, USA, Tel: 313-966-0641, Fax: 313-966-7368, E-mail: doup@karmanos.org